IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. SC11-2513 Lower Case No. 2D10-2144, 07-0080-CA

BARBARA J. PHILLIPS, etc., et al.,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

On appeal from the District Court of Appeal, Second District of Florida

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Raymond James Financial Services, Inc., will be referred to herein as "Petitioner" or "RJFS." Barbara J. Phillips, Jennifer L. Phillips, and Margaret K. Camp will be referred to collectively as "Respondents."¹ Citations to Petitioner's Appendix will be "(V_T_)," referring to the volume number ("V_") followed by the tab number ("T_") and, as necessary, specific exhibits or page numbers.²

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondents are former securities account holders with RJFS. (V1T1 ¶9) Each executed written Client Agreements that required any disputes with RJFS to be submitted to the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.'s (n/k/a the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or "FINRA") arbitration program. (V1T1 Ex. H) Pursuant to these agreements, on November 29, 2005, Respondents filed a Statement of Claim with the FINRA arbitration tribunal against RJFS. (V1T1 Ex. A) The Statement of Claim asserted claims for negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, violations of federal securities law, and statutory fraud under Florida's Securities and Investor Protection Act, Fla. Stat. § 517 ("Chapter 517"). (V1T1 Ex. A) RJFS responded by filing a "Motion to Dismiss, Answer, Defenses to the

¹ This case originated in arbitration. Respondents were Claimants in the arbitration proceeding below and Plaintiffs in the court proceeding below.

² Petitioner has submitted contemporaneously with its Initial Brief an Appendix consisting of two volumes and 20 tabs pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(f).

Statement of Claim, and Counter-claim." (V1T1 Ex. B) In the Motion to Dismiss, RJFS asserted that the arbitration claims were barred by the applicable statute of limitations. (V1T1 Ex. B) The arbitration panel appointed to adjudicate the dispute set RJFS's Motion to Dismiss for hearing, stating the hearing would be "a half-day evidentiary hearing limited to the issue of whether the claims are barred by statutes of limitations." (V1T1 Ex. E)

The Client Agreements executed by Respondents state in part they "[s]hall be construed, interpreted and the rights of the Parties shall be determined in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Florida" and "the determination of whether any [] claim was timely filed shall be by a court having jurisdiction, upon application by either party." (V1T1 Ex. H) On January 10, 2007, Respondents invoked the latter provision and filed a Complaint in Collier County Circuit Court ("Circuit Court") seeking a declaratory judgment that Florida's statute of limitations ("Chapter 95") did not apply to arbitration proceedings. (V1T1) Respondents did not request declaratory relief regarding the federal statute of limitations that governs their federal securities claims. (V1T1) After a hearing on March 31, 2010, the Circuit Court granted Respondents' "Motion for Declaratory Judgment" reasoning that in *Miele v. Prudential-Bache* Securities, Inc., 656 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 1995), this Court ruled arbitrations were not "actions" or "proceedings." (V2T11)

RJFS timely appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal (the "District Court"). (V2T12) RJFS argued that Chapter 95 is, on its face, applicable to arbitration proceedings and, regardless, the Parties' contract incorporated Chapter 95. (V2T13; V2T16) Among other things, RJFS argued that the public policy underlying statutes of limitations applies equally to claims made in arbitration and that the Circuit Court's reliance on *Miele* was misplaced in light of the Legislature's response to that holding. (V2T13) RJFS also argued that the Circuit Court's order resulted in an involuntary waiver of protected property rights and that the judicial limitation of the term "proceeding" constituted an abrogation of legislative power. (V2T16)

Oral argument was held before the District Court on January 26, 2011. On November 16, 2011, a split District Court affirmed the Circuit Court's ruling. (V2T18) Although noting the Circuit Court incorrectly relied on *Miele*, inasmuch as that case did not interpret the term "proceeding," the District Court ultimately held that "arbitrations are not 'actions' or 'proceedings' for purposes of section 95.011." (V2T18 pp.2, 9) In reaching that decision, the District Court concluded that RJFS did not "expressly include the Florida statutes of limitations in the contract." (V2T18 p. 12) Accordingly, the District Court looked at the language of Section 95.011, found that it did not "convey a clear and definite meaning" (V2T18 p.6), and eventually concluded that the term "proceeding" in Chapter 95.011 means "a court proceeding" only, not arbitration. (V2T18 p.10) Associate Judge Raiden concurred and Chief Judge Kelly dissented without opinion. (V2T18 p.13) The District Court certified the following question as one of great public importance:

DOES SECTION 95.011, FLORIDA STATUTES, APPLY TO ARBITRATION WHEN THE PARTIES HAVE NOT EXPRESSLY INCLUDED A PROVISION IN THEIR ARBITRATION AGREEMENT STATING THAT IT IS APPLICABLE?

This Court possesses jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v).

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves a novel interpretation of an unambiguous statute. That interpretation not only violates the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution and individual constitutional rights, it is irreconcilable with binding law, and creates patently absurd results. For the first time in Florida's judicial history, a District Court has held that the terms "civil actions" and "proceedings" as used in Chapter 95 do not encompass arbitration proceedings, and so, Florida's statute of limitations does not apply to claims pursued in an arbitral forum unless the parties "expressly include" the statute in their arbitration agreement. Further, according to the District Court, agreeing to include the "laws of the State of Florida" is insufficient even though binding precedent dictates that agreements like the one at issue include the determination of statute of limitations defenses. Legislative intent is the polestar of statutory construction. The District Court erred by looking beyond the clear and unambiguous language of the statute. Nonetheless, once the District Court concluded Chapter 95 was ambiguous, because the word "arbitration" was not contained in the statute, it should have applied well-settled principles of statutory construction. It did not. Those principles, when correctly applied, reveal the Legislature's clear intent that Chapter 95 apply to claims made in arbitration.

Initially, courts are required to consider the legislative purpose of the enactment. The District Court's analysis ignored the legislative purpose underlying Chapter 95, which is to protect litigants from having to rely on faded memories or diminished evidence in the prosecution or defense of claims. The notion that the policy underlying Chapter 95 does not apply equally to claims brought in the arbitral forum is simply devoid of logic. Statutes of limitation are fundamental to our justice system, regardless of the forum in which the justice is carried out. By ignoring the intent and policy behind Chapter 95 and failing to employ other well-known principles of statutory construction, the District Court erred as a matter of law.

More troubling, however, is that the District Court's interpretation leads to absurd outcomes the Legislature never intended and ultimately renders the statute unconstitutional. The District Court's interpretation of Chapter 95 operates as an involuntary waiver of protected property rights, and no rational basis exists for the deprivation. Additionally, if correct, the District Court's analysis means the Legislature intended to revoke the benefits and protections of Chapter 95 when parties choose to arbitrate their disputes. Such an interpretation directly conflicts with the Federal Arbitration Act and federal policy favoring arbitration.

Finally, the District Court's interpretation is inconsistent with (and renders meaningless) a vast body of law, including prior opinions of the Second District Court of Appeal as well as this Court's opinion in *O'Keefe Architects, Inc. v. CED Constr. Partners, Ltd.*, 994 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2006). Reversal is therefore required.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether Chapter 95 applies to arbitration proceedings is a question of statutory interpretation requiring a *de novo* review. *Bennett v. St. Vincent's Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 71 So. 3d 828, 837 (Fla. 2011), *reh'g denied* (Sept. 22, 2011); *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Holy Cross Hosp., Inc.*, 961 So. 2d 328, 331 (Fla. 2007). Likewise, the issue of whether the District Court properly interpreted the Parties' arbitration agreement is a matter of contract interpretation that is reviewed *de novo. O'Keefe Architects, Inc.*, 944 So. 2d at 185 ("[W]hether O'Keefe's statute of limitations defense is subject to arbitration is a matter of contract interpretation that is reviewed de novo."); *Engle Homes, Inc. v. Jones*, 870 So. 2d 908, 910 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004); *Hirshenson v. Spaccio*, 800 So. 2d 670, 674 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Rules Of Statutory Construction Are Applied Only When A Statute Is Ambiguous, And Chapter 95 Is Not Ambiguous.

When interpreting a statute, the court's task is to give effect to legislative intent by first looking at the actual statutory language. *Belanger v. The Salvation Army*, 556 F.3d 1153, 1155 (11th Cir. 2009); *Donato v. Am. Tele. and Telegraph Co.*, 767 So. 2d 1146, 1150 (Fla. 2000); *City of Tampa v. Thatcher Glass Corp.*, 445 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1984). Unless a statute is unclear or ambiguous, courts should not look behind the statute's plain language for legislative intent or resort to rules of statutory construction. *Belanger*, 556 F.3d at 1155. Here, the language in Chapter 95 is clear and unambiguous, and applies to arbitration proceedings.

Section 95.011 governs the applicability of Florida's statute of limitations:

[a] civil action **or proceeding, called an 'action' in this chapter** ... shall be barred unless begun within the time prescribed in this chapter or, if a different time is prescribed elsewhere in these statutes, within the time prescribed elsewhere.

Id. (emphasis added). A plain reading of the statute indicates that any reference to an "action" throughout Chapter 95 shall include all "civil actions" or "proceedings." The terms "civil action" and "proceeding" are not defined in Chapter 95. When a term is undefined, courts apply the term's plain and ordinary meaning by referencing a dictionary. *Rollins v. Pizzarelli*, 761 So. 2d 294, 298 (Fla. 2000); *Green v. State*, 604 So. 2d 471, 473 (Fla. 1992).

7

The District Court relied on the 8th edition of Black's Law Dictionary to define the terms "civil action" and "proceeding." (V2T18 p.5) The 8th edition, which post dates the passage of Chapter 95 but was not current when the District Court entered its ruling, defines those terms as follows:

Civil action at law: [a] civil suit stating a legal cause of action and seeking only a legal remedy.

Proceeding: (2) [A]ny procedural means for seeking redress from a tribunal or administrative agency. ... (4) The business conducted by a court or other official body; a hearing.

Black's Law Dictionary, 31, 1241 (Bryan A. Garner ed., 8th ed., West 2004). (V2T18 p.5) Even under the edition of Black's Law Dictionary used by the District Court, arbitration falls squarely within the definition of both these terms.

Arbitration is merely an alternative forum to court – a procedural means for seeking redress from a tribunal, which is defined under the same version of Black's Law Dictionary as "[a] court or other adjudicatory body." *Black's Law Dictionary* at 1544 (emphasis added); *Miele*, 656 So. 2d at 473 ("Arbitration is an alternative to the court system"); *Shearson/Am. Express, Inc. v. McMahon*, 482 U.S. 220, 226 (1987)(referring to "arbitration tribunals"); *Carnival Corp. v. Booth*, 946 So. 2d 1112, 1115 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006)("An agreement to arbitrate before a specified tribunal is, in effect, a specialized kind of forum-selection clause")(citing *Scherk v. Alberto-Culver Co.*, 417 U.S. 506 (1974)). Likewise, arbitration is the exercise or business of conducting a judicial function by an official, or panel of

officials, and culminates in a hearing. *Cassara v. Wofford*, 55 So. 2d 102, 105 (Fla. 1951)("The law is well-settled that arbitrators exercise judicial functions; and, while not *eo nomine* judges, they are in fact judicial officers."). Therefore, arbitration falls squarely within the plain meaning of the clear and unambiguous terms "civil action" and "proceeding."

The District Court, however, determined that since neither the dictionary definition of "civil action" or "proceeding" explicitly includes the word "arbitration," those terms "do not convey a clear and definite meaning." (V2T18 p.6) This was error. There is no principle of statutory construction that states a term is unclear or indefinite unless its dictionary definition explicitly includes a particular synonym identified by the court. In fact, courts frequently interpret the dictionary definition of a term to *encompass* other meanings or synonyms, even if a particular word is not explicitly referenced.³ *See e.g.*, *Thatcher Glass Corp.*, 445

³ In addition to a dictionary, courts may refer to other case law when interpreting the plain meaning of statutory language. *State v. Mitro*, 700 So. 2d 643, 645 (Fla. 1997)("In the absence of a statutory definition, resort may be had to case law or related statutory provisions which define the term."). As the District Court recognized, there are no other Florida opinions interpreting "or proceeding" in Chapter 95 (V2T18 p.9); however, it is telling that Florida courts regularly refer to arbitrations as "arbitration *proceedings*." *See Dadeland Depot, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins.*, 945 So. 2d 1216, 1235-46 (Fla. 2006) ("at the time of the arbitration proceeding ... during an arbitration proceeding"); *Lloyds Underwriters v. Netterstrom*, 17 So. 2d 732, 736 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009)("[i]n an arbitration proceeding"); *Green Tree Servicing, LLC v. McLeod*, 15 So. 2d 682, 691 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009)("[e]njoin an arbitration proceeding discovery in arbitration proceedings"); *Gencom Group v. Garcia Stromberg, LLC*, 34 So. 3d

So. 2d at 580 (dictionary definition of "fuel" encompassed natural gas even though the term "natural gas" was not explicitly stated in the definition); *State v. Cohen*, 696 So. 2d 435, 437 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)(dictionary definition of "representation" encompassed a computer image even though the term "computer image" was not explicitly included in the definition).

The District Court, therefore, erred when it looked beyond the plain language of Chapter 95. That error might have been overcome had it subsequently applied the well-settled principles of statutory construction. By failing to do so, the District Court predictably arrived at an incorrect conclusion.

B. Assuming *Arguendo* That Chapter 95 Is Ambiguous, The District Court Was Required To Apply Well-Settled Principles Of Statutory Construction And Failed To Do So.

1. <u>The District Court erred when it analyzed Section 95.011</u> <u>in isolation.</u>

Courts "do not look at only one portion of the statute in isolation but [] review the entire statute to determine intent We give effect to all statutory provisions and construe related provisions in harmony with each other." *Sch. Bd. of Palm Beach County v. Survivors Charter Schools, Inc.*, 3 So. 3d 1220, 1234 (Fla. 2009); *Rollins*, 761 So. 2d at 298 (It is axiomatic that "[s]tatutes must be read

^{170, 171 (}Fla. 3d DCA 2010)("[s]tay an arbitration proceeding"); *Dorestin v. Hollywood Imports, Inc.*, 2010 WL 3154848, *3 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010)("[i]n an arbitration proceeding"); *Shaw v. St. Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 37 So. 3d 329, 339 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010)("[i]nstituted arbitration proceedings").

together to ascertain their meaning."). Courts "must give full effect to all statutory provisions" and "avoid readings that would render part of the statute meaningless." *Gomez v. Vill. of Pinecrest,* 41 So. 3d 180, 185 (Fla. 2010); *Heart of Adoptions, Inc. v. J.A.*, 963 So. 2d 189, 199 (Fla. 2007).

The District Court failed to consider Section 95.011 in the context of the statute as a whole and in harmony with the rest of the Chapter. As a consequence, its holding renders portions of the statute meaningless and leads to incongruous results. For instance, Section 95.03 states:

Contracts shortening time. - Any provision in a contract fixing the period of time within which an action arising out of the contract may be begun at a time less than that provided by the applicable statute of limitations is void.

The Legislature intended to make void agreements shortening limitations periods. *Id.* By holding that Chapter 95 is not applicable to claims in arbitration, the prohibition in Section 95.03 and presumably the policy underlying it would likewise not apply. If that is true, then parties who agree to pursue their claims in arbitration lose the protection of Section 95.03 and the prohibition against shortening statutes of limitation. The prohibition is meaningless in the arbitral forum. *See e.g., WFTV, Inc. v. Wilken,* 675 So. 2d 674, 678 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)(rejecting an interpretation that would render meaningless another statutory provision). The District Court's holding removes any proscription against shortening limitations periods or even eliminating them. The Legislature clearly

did not intend this incongruous result. By explicitly prohibiting the contractual shortening of Chapter 95's limitation periods in connection with "actions arising out of the contract," the Legislature obviously intended Chapter 95 apply in all instances, including arbitration.

Similarly problematical is the impact on Section 95.11(4)(e), which is the limitations provision governing claims made under Chapter 517, the Florida Securities and Investor Protection Act. That section states:

Actions other than for recovery of real property shall be commenced as follows:

*

*

(4) WITHIN TWO YEARS.—

(e) An action founded upon a violation of any provision of chapter 517, with the period running from the time the facts giving rise to the cause of action were discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence, but not more than 5 years from the date such violation occurred.

Fla. Stat. § 95.11(4)(e). The sole purpose of Chapter 517 is to provide redress for harm arising out of securities transactions. *See e.g., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith v. Byrne*, 320 So. 2d 436, 441 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975)(Chapter 517 was "[p]rimarily designed to protect the naïve and unsophisticated investor against unscrupulous dealers.")(internal citations omitted). Although such claims are by no means exclusively raised in the arbitral forum, mandatory arbitration clauses required by FINRA in all customer agreements result in the vast majority of private Chapter 517 claims being heard in arbitration. The limitations period applicable to

private claims for violations of Chapter 517 is set forth only in Section 95.11(4)(e). It is not contained in Chapter 517. The specific inclusion of the limitations period in Chapter 95 for violations of Chapter 517 at least suggests an interest to make Chapter 95 applicable in arbitration because those claims are regularly brought in arbitration pursuant to binding arbitration agreements FINRA member firms are obligated to include in client agreements for brokerage services.⁴ The District Court's myopic analysis renders meaningless the limitations period that the Legislature enacted for Chapter 517 claims brought in arbitration proceedings. Reading Section 95.11 in accordance with the other sections of Chapter 95 demonstrates that the Legislature must have intended "civil action or proceedings" to encompass arbitration proceedings.

2. <u>The District Court erred when it ignored the purpose</u> behind the enactment of Chapter 95.

If statutory language is ambiguous, so as to require the court to invoke principles of statutory construction, the court should look to the purpose behind the enactment of the statute to ascertain legislative intent. *Barco v. Sch. Bd. of Pinellas County*, 975 So. 2d 1116, 1123 (Fla. 2008)("Consideration must be accorded not only to the literal and usual meaning of the words, but also to their meaning and effect on the objectives and purposes of the statute's enactment.")

⁴ See e.g., Shearson/Am Exp., Inc., 482 U.S. at 222 (discussing pre-dispute arbitration agreements between brokerage firms and their customers and determining federal statutory claims are subject to arbitration).

(citing *Fla. Birth Related Neurological Injury Compen. Assn. v. Fla. Div. of Admin. Hearings*, 686 So. 2d 1349, 1354 (Fla. 1997)); *Rollins*, 761 So. 2d at 299 ("[L]egislative history may be helpful in ascertaining legislative intent."); *Delgado v. J.W. Courtesy Pontiac GMC-Truck, Inc.*, 693 So. 2d 602, 606 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997)(analyzing legislative intent behind enactment of FDUTPA).

The law is well-settled that statutes of limitations:

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