### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,

Petitioner,

Case No. SC11-2513 Lower Case No. 2D10-2144 Circuit Court Case No. 07-0080-CA

-VS-

BARBARA J. PHILLIPS, et al.,

Respondents.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

On appeal from the District Court of Appeal, Second District of Florida

Robert J. Pearl, Esquire Florida Bar #0255297

robert@investor attorneys.com

THE PEARL LAW FIRM, P.A. 7400 Tamiami Trail North

Suite 101

Naples, Florida 34108

Telephone: (239) 653-9330

Facsimile: (239) 653-9377

Attorneys for Respondents

#

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

the issue of timeliness of Respondents' arbitration claims, seeking to avoid the consequences of its actions by claiming it lost a valuable "property right" in the process. This Court stated, it is "clear that because a party may waive its contractual rights by simply taking actions inconsistent with those rights, a waiver of the contractual right to arbitrate may arise through a party's inconsistent conduct even in the absence of prejudice."

Since arbitrations are matters of contract, whether or not to utilize state statutes of limitations, or to impose separate and different limitations periods, as with the FINRA Code of Arbitration Procedure, it a matter best left *to the parties* in their negotiations. To those advocates calling for a reversal here due to their pre-conceived concept that Florida's statutes of limitations are applicable in arbitration, Respondents say, "What about the other parties to your arbitration agreements? What were *their* expectations?" This Court should leave it to the contracting parties to decide how best to safeguards inherent in statutes of limitations and not assume either side is prejudiced by the holding of the District Court.

It is also incorrect to state that Petitioner's contract expressly or impliedly imports Florida's statutes of limitations, as claimed by Petitioner. (See Initial Brief, page 43.) The language found in the agreement is as follows:

Nothing in this agreement shall be deemed to limit or waive the application of any relevant state or federal statute of limitations, repose or other time bar. Any claim made by either party to the agreement which is time barred for any reason shall not be eligible for arbitration. (VI, T1, Exh. G.)

The agreement also includes this language:

This agreement and any accounts opened hereunder shall be construed, interpreted and the rights of the parties shall be determined in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Florida.

In other words, Raymond James seems to be saying that the statutes of limitations enacted in this state will apply to arbitrations throughout the country brought by Raymond James customers in FINRA arbitrations, because the parties chose to incorporate Florida substantive law. This is patently absurd.

Using this language Petitioner makes an assumption, based upon another assumption, that statutes of limitations do apply to arbitrations, that this "substantive law" is to be incorporated as part of the understanding of the parties at the time they contracted to arbitrate their disputes and that, therefore, statutes of limitations must apply as a matter of contract construction.

This assertion misconstrues the agreements. The first sentence of the first clause simply advises that the *agreement* does not affect whatever timeliness defenses might otherwise be available to the parties. Moreover, it does not state, as

Petitioner urges, that otherwise unavailable defenses *do* apply in an arbitration brought by either party, although that would have been a simple matter to address, if Raymond James had so chosen.

The second sentence of that provision is also misinterpreted by Raymond James. When the agreement states that any time-barred claim is "ineligible" for arbitration, it does not mean that the claim is subject to *dismissal*. Ineligibility for arbitration is incorporated within NASD Rule 10304(b) and requires that the case be brought in court, *not* dismissed.

Furthermore, Raymond James misstates the law when it claims that "Absent a specific exclusion in the arbitration agreement of the applicability of statutes of limitations, those statutes will apply." (Initial Brief, page 43). The case cited by Raymond James for this premise, *Marschel v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc.*, 609 So.2d 718 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) does not so hold, ruling only that it is for the arbitration panel assigned to the dispute to decide the application of the statutes of limitations.

There is simply nothing inequitable about an arbitration party having to submit to claims brought in arbitration under a contractually established limitations period, unless public policy dictates against an unreasonably abbreviated period.

In sum, Raymond James contractual provisions do not incorporate statutes of limitations otherwise inapplicable.

### C. AFFIRMING THE DISTRICT COURT RULING WOULD ALIGN THIS COURT WITH A DEVELOPING NATIONAL CONSENSUS

Consistently, jurisdictions interpreting their own of statutes of limitations have concluded that these statutes do not apply to arbitrations. Arbitrations are not viewed by these courts as judicial actions; rather they are the private enforcement of contract rights through non-judicial proceedings. In these circumstances, the rules of the arbitration forum specifying the allowable claims period are the only terms limiting a claimant's right to bring the arbitration action. No reason is advanced by Petitioner for this Court to deviate from this well-settled and well-reasoned strain of authority.

These other jurisdictions have had no difficulty holding statutes of limitations inapplicable to arbitration proceedings, including the ruling from the Supreme Court of the State of Washington in *Broom v. Morgan Stanley, supra*. In that case, a FINRA arbitration panel, in a proceeding similar to that filed by Respondents, had applied state statutes of limitations to dismiss the claims in arbitration. In *Broom*, the Court held that the arbitrators had exceeded their authority because Washington's statutes of limitations apply only to "actions," not arbitrations.

In the absence of a clear statement to the contrary by the Washington legislature, we thus read the statutory language and our own precedent to conclude that arbitration is not an "action" subject to state statutes of limitations in these circumstances.

Similarly, the Superior Court of Arizona, in *Morgan v. Carillon Investments*, 109 P.3d 82, 210 Ariz. 187 (2005), held that "The Court determines that the statutes of limitations do not apply in arbitration proceedings unless the contract requiring arbitration makes a specific reference to the statutes of limitations applying or the documents comprising the rules of arbitration refer to the application of statutes of limitations. Statutes of limitations apply to actions brought in court. Arbitration agreed to by contract is not an action brought in court."

In Texas, limitation periods apply to "suits." See, e.g., Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code Ann. § 16.004 (Vernon 2005). In 1855, the Texas Supreme Court stated, "[t]he words *court* and *suit* have a distinct meaning, and suggest a very different idea from arbitrators and arbitration." *Yarborough v. Leggett*, 14 Tex. 677 (1855). Connecticut's rule is the same: "[A]n arbitration is not a civil action." *Viggiano v. Tuscano-Moss*, 2005 Conn. Super. LEXIS 3179, at \* 13. The courts of Connecticut have concluded that statutes of limitations do not apply in arbitration proceedings because such statutes apply only to court "actions" which

are not defined to include arbitrations. "Arbitration is not a common-law action, and the institution of arbitration proceedings is not the bringing of an action under any of our statutes of limitation." *Skidmore, Owings & Merrill v. Connecticut General Life Ins. Co.*, 25 Conn. Sup. 76, 197 A.2d 83 (Conn. 1963). Further, the *Skidmore* Court continued, "there appears to be no sound reason, in the absence of an express statutory provision, for including an arbitration proceeding within the type of actions intended to be encompassed within the bar of the Statute of Limitations." *Id.* 

A quite thorough judicial review of this issue appears in *NCR Corp. v. CBS Liquor Control* ("*NCR*"), in which an arbitrator's refusal to apply a statute of limitations was found not to be manifest disregard of the law. *NCR Corp. v. CBS Liquor Control* (S.D. Ohio 1993) 874 F. Supp. 168, *partially modified on unrelated grounds*, 1993 WL 767119 (NO. C-3-91-027, C-3-01-031) *aff'd sub nom. NCR Corp. v. Sac-Co.* (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. Ohio 1995) 43 F.3d 1076, cert. denied sum nom. *Sac-Co Inc. v. AT&T Global Info. Solutions Co.*, (1995) 516 U.S. 906.

During the arbitration underlying that case, NCR Corp. stressed that the claims were barred by a number of applicable statutes of limitation. The arbitrator refused to apply those statutes of limitation and awarded damages to CBS Liquor Control. NCR Corp. petitioned to vacate the award, claiming that the arbitrator's

refusal to apply a statute of limitations was a manifest disregard of the law. The U.S. District Court disagreed, stating that "the effect of a statute of limitations is to bar an action at law, not arbitration." *Id.* at 172. The court further stated that if NCR had allowed the claims against it to remain in court, rather than forcing them into arbitration, it might well have defended successfully on statute of limitations grounds:

Had these claims remained pending in the New York Supreme Court, NCR would have had an excellent motion to dismiss the counterclaims as barred by the statute. It chose instead to demand the claims be arbitrated. *Id.* at 172.

The *NCR* court looked to *Son Shipping Co. v. De Fosse & Tanghe* (2d Cir. 1952) 199 F. 2d 687, which held that a claim made outside of the time limit provided by a statutory cause of action was not barred. The court stated:

Nor does the reservation to the carrier in the charter party of all rights it would have under the Carriage of Goods by Sea Act, 46 U.S.C.A. section 1300 et seq., make the demand for arbitration untimely. It is true that the demand was not made within the one year limitation upon suits, contained in section 1303(6) of the above Act, but there is, nevertheless, no time bar because arbitration is not within the term "suit" as used in the statute. Instead, it is the performance of a contract providing for the resolution of a controversy without suit. *Id*, at 689.

Numerous other jurisdictions analyzing this issue have reached the same conclusion.<sup>2</sup> The reason so many courts have arrived at the same result is because of a basic understanding that statutes of limitations govern the filing of a legal "action," whereas claims brought in arbitration are not legal "actions." Instead, the time limit for arbitration claims is controlled by the arbitration contract. As such, the issue of when a claim has to be brought is not one of statutory interpretation but one of contract interpretation. In this case, the only time limitation that is relevant is the six-year rule in NASD Rule 10304.

In addition, various legal articles and treatises similarly conclude that statutes of limitations do not apply in arbitration. "Statutes of Limitations Don't Apply In Arbitration" (PLI's Securities Arbitration, 2005), Joseph C. Long,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>(See, e.g. *Nielsen v. Butterworth Hospital*, 182 Mich. App. 507, 511 (1990), rev'd on other grounds 441 Mich. 1 (1992) (Court held that arbitration panel committed error by dismissing case based on statutes of limitations because these statutes do not apply to arbitration.); *Dayco Corp. v. Fred T. Roberts and Co.*, 192 Conn. 497, 472 A.2d 780 (1984); *Nunno v. Wixner*, 257 Conn. 671, 778 A.2d 145 (2001); *Cameron v. Griffith*, 91 N.C. App. 164 (1988) (statutes of limitations do not apply to arbitration); *Carpenter v. Pomerantz*, 643 N.E.2d 587, 589 (Mass. 1994); *Shafnacker v. Raymond James & Assoc.*, 425 Mass. 724, 683 N.E.2d 662 (1997) (". . . the filing of a claim for arbitration is not an "action" within the meaning of c. 260, § 32.); *Maltz v. Smith Barney, Inc.*, 427 Mass. 560, 694 N.E.2d 840 (1998); *Lewiston Fire Fighters Association v. City of Lewiston*, 354 A.2d 154, 167 (Me. 1976); *Har-mar v. Thorsen & Thorshov*, 218 N.W.2d 751, 755 (Minn. 1974); *Sheppard v. Lightpost Museum Fund* (2006) 146 Cal.App.4th 315 (Arbitration is not a judicial proceeding-it is an alternative thereto; "Arbitration claims ... are not filed in courts and they do not initiate judicial proceedings.")

Professor Emeritus at the University of Oklahoma Law School; Securities Arbitration Procedure Manual, § 5-10, pages 5-191 to 5-192.1; Charles W. Austin, "Having Their Cake and Eating It Too: Motion Practice and the Mongrelization of SRO Arbitration," available on Westlaw at 1399 PLI/Corp. 183, 192 (Dec. 2003); Kenneth R. Jones, "Applicability of Statutes of Limitations in AAA Arbitration", 5 PIABA Quarterly (No. 4) 8 (Dec. 1998); Securities Arbitration Desk Reference, 2009-2010 ed. (Securities Law Handbook Series), by Seth E. Lipner and Joseph C. Long.

According to ALR Annot. "Statute of Limitations As Bar to Arbitration Under Agreement," 94 A.L.R.3d 533 (1979), all the decided cases hold that an arbitration is neither a "civil action" nor a "suit." Therefore, statutes of limitations governing such actions do not apply in arbitration.

In his October 2007 Florida Bar Journal article, Mr. Weintraub states, "The relevant case law reflects that statutes of limitations generally apply in arbitration only under limited circumstances." According to Mr. Weintraub, there are three circumstances under which statutes of limitation would apply to an arbitration. The first circumstance is where a state statute expressly provides for their application.

While some state legislatures have enacted arbitration statutes which specifically incorporate state statutes of limitations into arbitrations, (See, New York's CPLR Section 7502 and Georgia's Official Code Section 9-9-5), and presumably the Florida Legislature has been aware for many years that other legislatures chose to take that route, our Legislature has decided not to follow in the footsteps of those States.

The second circumstance is where a statute of limitation's application to arbitration is implicit in the statutory language. That is not the case in Florida, according to Mr. Weintraub, since all of Florida's limitations statutes are expressly limited to "civil actions" and had the Florida legislature intended for arbitrations to be considered "actions" in all contexts, statutes similar to those in Georgia or New York would have been adopted.

The third circumstance under which statutes of limitations would apply in arbitrations, according to Mr. Weintraub, is when the parties' contract expressly provides. "Unless dictated otherwise by public policy, attorneys may include contractual language expressly providing that statutes of limitations shall apply in arbitration." As previously stated, the contracts entered into by Respondents and Raymond James did not provide that statutes of limitations *shall* apply, only that the agreements in question would not "limit or waive the application of any

relevant" statute of limitations. Since the law of Florida does not make the statutes of limitations applicable to Respondents' arbitration claims, there are no "relevant" statutes of limitations to apply.

In the absence of any one of these three circumstances, according to Mr. Weintraub, without action by the Legislature to extend the application of statutes of limitations to arbitrations, the law in Florida holds that arbitration claims may not be defeated by the application of statutes of limitations.

The vast weight of authority and scholarly analysis support the lower court's ruling and further justify this Court's adoption of Respondents' position that their arbitration claims are not subject to Florida's statutes of limitations.

# D. PETITIONER HAS IMPROPERLY RAISED ON THIS APPEAL ISSUES NOT RAISED AT THE TRIAL COURT; FAA PREEMPTION DOES NOT RENDER THE DISTRICT COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF CHAPTER 95 TO BE UNCONSTITUTIONAL

For the first time on appeal, Petitioner asserts that the determination that Chapter 95.011 does not apply to arbitration is preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act (hereinafter "FAA") and is in violation of the Supremacy Clause. This is not the first time that Raymond James has attempted to raise issues to this Court which were not raised below. In *Raymond James v. Saldukas, supra*, this Court observed, "Raymond James contends that even if it is subject to litigation,

VandenBerg should not be because he was not a party to the NYSE arbitration proceeding and therefore could not have waived his right to arbitrate. This issue was never raised in the trial court, and this court will not review issues raised for the first time on appeal. *Dober v. Worrell*, 401 So.2d 1322, 1323 (Fla.1981); *Mendelson v. Great Western Bank*, 712 So.2d 1194, 1197 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). Therefore, we decline to address this issue."

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